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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

DAVERLYNN KINKEAD et al, individually
and on behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiffs,

y No. 3:15€v-01637(JAM)

HUMANA AT HOME, INC. et al,
Defendants.

ORDER GRANTING IN PART , DENYING IN PART, AND DEFERRING IN PART
PLAINTIFFS* MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DEFENDANTS '’
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Plaintiffs are home healthcare werkemployed by defendant Humana, Inc. and its
corporate affiliates. They have filed this cotige and class action lawsuit alleging that
defendantfiave unlawfully failed to pay themegular andime-anda-half overtime wages for
the number of hours that they worked. They bring their claims under the Fair Labor Standards
Act, as well as under the Connecticut Minimum Wage Act and New York Labor Law.

Both parties now move for summary judgment. Docs. #312; #314. For the reasons
explained belowi, will grant in part deny in part, and defer in part the motions for summary
judgment.

BACKGROUND

Thesemotiors arethe latest stage of a lorignning dispute between the parties. Because
| discuss this cas&ehistory at length ifKinkead v. Humana at Home, ln830 F.R.D. 338 (D.
Conn. 2019), | address here only the facts and procedural developments {rtimeinstant
motions.

The plaintiffs in this caserahome healthcare workersHHWS’) who go to the homes

of elderly and disabled people to provide “companionship serVibéantiffs all worked for
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Humana Inc. and related compgulefendantgcollectively, “defendants”)Defendantemploy
HHWsto serve clients in two types of arrangementsivasn andnoniive-in caregiversA
live-in caregiver spends a 24-hour shift in a client’s home, part of which tinkéHé sleeps
and has meals as needed. A4ive-in caregiver spends discretenumber of hours or “shift” at
a clients home €.g, an 8-hour or 12-hour shift).

The Fair Labor Standards A¢HLSA”) generally requires that employers pay tiared
a-half wagerates for hours that an employee works beyond the regular 40-hour workSeeek.
29 U.S.C. § 207(a). In 2013, the U.S. Department of LABDL") promulgatedh new
regulation, 29 C.F.R. 8 552.109, which expaahthe class of workers eligibfer overtimepay
under the=LSA. Prior to the issuance of this regulation, the FLSA'’s overtime pay requirements
did not apply to companionship service workers whose services were provided by means of a
third-party employer like Human&ee Kinkead v. Humana, In206 F. Supp. 3d 751, 753 (D.
Conn. 2016). The new regulation eliminated this exemption effective January 1|#015.

Thevalidity of the new regulation was put into doubt for a time by an adverse decision
from a district court in the District of Columbilaut the D.C. Circuit eventuallgversed the
district courts decisionin August 2015Seeibid. (citing Home Care Ass of Am. v. Wejl76 F.
Supp. 3d 138 (D.D.C. 2014kVvd and remanded799 F.3d 1084 (D.C. Cir. 2015)).Ale the
regulation remained in limbo, defendants did generallypay overtime.

In November 2015, plaintiff Daverlynn Kinkead sudgfendantsalleging that she had
workedas aHHW in Connecticut and that the new regulatemitledherto overtime payor
hours that she worked from January 2015 W&l 2015. Doc. #1. Kinkead based her claim on
the FLSA as well as on cognate provisions of the Connecticut Minimum Wag@e&CAMYWA”) ,

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 31-%# seq



In July 2016, denieddefendantsimotionto dismiss concluding that—notwithstanding
the intervenindegalchallenge to theule s validity—the regulatiorwent into effectas ofits
intended effective date dhnuary 1, 201%ee Kinkead206 F. Supp. 3dt 75355. In May
2017, | granted the joint motion for conditional certificatadra national FLSA collective action
pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). Doc. #114.

The litigationthen took another turn in November 2017 whgrantedplaintiffs leaveto
file an amended complairDocs. #180; #18(first amended complaintPlaintiffs addedclaims
under New Yorl.abor Law (“NYLL") and named anotheo-plaintiff, Claude Mathieu, who
worked for defendants from approximately February 2015 to July 28h@;lass representative
for New York HHWSs. Under the amended complaint, Kinkead and Mathieu saajlective
and class action religd recover unpaid overtimeagesunderthe FLSA as well aander
parallé provisions of both th€ MWA andNYLL . In addition to tleir claims for overtimehours,
plaintiffs alsosoughtrelief for unpaidhours,allegingthatdefendantsystematically
undercounted the hours for whitttey paid HHWs who worked live-in shifts. Doc. #18t 17
18 (11 64-73).

In May 2018, faintiffs movedto certify four different classepursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P.
23. Doc. #204The first two classesthe “ConnecticuEffective DateClass”and the New
York Effective Date Class>sought to be paid for overtime houwed fromJanuary 1 to
Octoberl2, 2015.

Thesecond twalasses-referred to as the “Connectiduhpaid HoursClass”and the
“New York Unpaid Hours Class~soughtadditional relié of unpaid wages, whether straight
time or overtimepn the ground thatefendantslid not properly calculate the hours to be

creditedand compensatddr those HHWswvho worked livein shifts



Forthe Connecticut Unpaid Hours class, plaintiffs sowgihtification of a class limited
to HHWs who worked live-in shifts between January 1, 2015, and January 25, B0iiEfs at
that timesought paymerfor at leastl3 hours per live-in shift, the minimum under Connecticut
law, evenif someplaintiffs adually workedmore tharl3 hours during a live: shift. For the
New York Unpaid Hours class, plaintiffs souglettification of a class of HHWs who worked
between November 11, 2009, and the present, allegingjlévatyork HHWs were entitled
understatelaw to be paid for the full 24 hours of a live-in shit. that time, it was an
unresolved question whether New York law required andiHW bepaid for a full 24 hours or
for only 13 hourdor a live-in shift. SeeKinkead 330 F.R.Dat 344! Soplaintiffs based their
New York unpaid hours claim in the alternative on a 13-hour statotwriynum number of
hours, as with their Connecticut Unpaid HoufagSclaim. Ibid.

In addition, because the legal uncertaityhat timehad implications fothe overtime
claimsof theNew York Effective Date Class|agntiffs moved tdfile a second amended
complaint to add Shirley Caillo as a representative pla@lifigside Mathieu, on the basis that
Caillo workedlive-in and nonlive-in shifts totalingover 40 hours per weekregardless of
whether she wasredited for 13 or 24 hours per live-in shift under New York law. Doc. #256-1
(second amended complaint).March 2019, | granted plaintiffs’ second motion to amend their
complaint and | certifiethe followingfour classes

(1) The Connecticut Effective Date class, consisting of all home
healthcare workers employed by defendants in Connecticut who

worked in excess of 40 hours in a week between January 1, 2015,
and October 12, 2015.

(2) The New York Effective Date class, consisting of all home
healthcare workers employed by defendants in New York who

1 The New York Court of Appeals has since issued its ruiegAndryeyeva v. New York Health Care,.|r83
N.Y.3d 152, 17633 (2019) (upholding the NSDOL's interpretation of 12 N.C.R.R.§ 1422.1(b) as applied to
employees assigned to-Béur shifts, including the HHWs in this action).
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worked in excess of 40 hours in a week including at least2dn
hour live-in shift between January 1, 2015, and October 12, 2015.

(3) The Connecticut Unpaid Hours class, consisting of all home
healthcare workers employed by defendants in Connecticut who
worked 24hour liveiin shifts between January 1, 2015, anuuday

25, 2016.

(4) The New York Unpaid Hours class, consisting of all home
healthcare workers employed by defendants in New York who
worked 24hour livein shifts between November 11, 2009 and the
present.

Kinkead 330 F.R.D. at 358-59.

The partiehave nowfiled crossmotiors for summary judgment, Docs. #312, #314, and
the Court leardoral argument on both motions in November 2@&;. #368.

DISCUSSION

The principles governing the Court’s review of a motion for summary judgment are well
established. Summary judgment may be granted only if “the movant shows that there is no
genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as af matter o
law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). The Court must view the facts in the light most favorable tatthe pa
who opposes the motion for summary judgment and then decide if those facts would be
enough—if eventually proved at trial—to allow a reasonable jury to decide the case in favor of
the opposing party. My role at summary judgment is not to judge the credibility of witnesses or
to resolve closandcontested issues but solely to decide if there are enough facts that remain in
dispute to warrant a triabee generally Tolan v. Cottas72 U.S. 650, 656-57 (2014)gr
curiam); Benzemann v. Houslanger & Assocs., PL824 F.3d 73, 78 (2d Cir. 2019).

With these principles in mindwill addresgachsummary judgment motion in turn.

Plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment
Plaintiffs seeksummary judgment oieir claims as well aon somassueswithin those

claims Doc. #312.



FLSA overtime for livein shifts

Plaintiffs seek summary judgment on the FLSA overtime claims for aHifopt
[p]laintiffs who worked more than 40 hours in a week between January 1, 2015 and October 15,
2015,” which is the Effective Date period. Doc. #312-1 ats&2 also idat 11-20.

As noted above, | have previously ruled that all HHWs who worked more than 40 hours
per week are eligible for FLSA overtime during the Effective Date perié . parties agree that
overtime was not paid to HHWs whose work weeks were composed entireybie-in shifts
during the Effective Date perioBut the parties disagree as to which other HHWlose who
workedonly live-in shifts or acombinationof live-in and hourly shifts-are entitled to FLSA
overtime on the basis of working more than 40 hours per wsekelhasfor how much
overtime. In other words, the parties disagree about how to calculate wholke ébgiFLSA
overtime and, for those who are eligible, how to calculate the number of hours for WBiah F
overtime is owed.

It boils down to a dispute about how many hours per live-in shift HHWs should be
creditedwith as“work” hours. Under the FLSA, the general rule is thvabrk’ is “physical or
mental exertion (whether burdensome or not) controlled or required by the employer and pursue
necessarily and primarily for the benefit of the employer and his busiis#sgli v. City of New
York 524 F.3d 361, 367 (2d Cir. 2008) (quotifgnn. Coal, Iron & R.R. Co. v. Muscoda Local
No. 123 321 U.S. 590, 602 (1944)). The time spent “perform[ing] activities predominantly for
the benefit of the employer” is compensaleich v. S. New England Telecommunications

Corp., 121 F.3d 58, 64 (2d Cir. 1997).



For employees who are required to be on duty for 24 hours or more, regulations
promulgated by the DOL pursuantttee FLSA allowthe employer and employee to agree to
exclude time for meal andeslping periods when an employee is not working:

Where an employee is required to be on duty for 24 hours or more,
the employer and the employee may agree to exclude bona fide meal
periods and a bona fide regularly scheduled sleeping period of not
more thar8 hours from hours worked, provided adequate sleeping
facilities are furnished by the employer and the employee can
usually enjoy an uninterrupted nightsleep... [But] [w]here no

expressed or implied agreement to the contrary is present, the 8
hours of sleeping time and lunch periods constitute hours worked.

29 C.F.R. § 785.22(p¥ee alsdBonn-Wittingham v. Project OHR, In@92 F. App’x 71, 74 (2d
Cir. 2019) (citing regulation and noting “the practice, common in the home healthcare industry,
of assigning employees to salled‘twenty-four hout sleepin shifts during which employees
were actually expected to work only thirteen hours, with eight hours deducted for sle®ping a
three hours @ducted for meal breaks”).

Plaintiffs argue thaHHWSs are entitled to be credited with the &4 hours per live-in
shift for the purpose of overtime because there is no genuine fact issue to showteéheeris
an agreement witlive-in HHWs to exclude from the workday “bona fide meal periods and a
bona fide regularly scheduled sleeping period of not more than 8 hours,” as would be required by
29 C.F.R. § 785.22 (“section 785.22") conclude that there is a genuine fact issue about
whether there was such an agreement.

As a preliminary mattethere is a genuine issue of fact whdbrmation in the record

evidences theelevant agreemeibetween the parties. The partegeethateach HHW signed

21f such an agreement is shown to exist, plaintiffs condefiendantsnay treat up to 11 hours per day as-non
compensable. Doc. #31Rat 13. So at a minimum, plaintiffs maintain that members of the FLSA collectve
enitled to be credited for 13 hours per lireshift. Id. at 20 n. 10see alsdoc. #381 (Tr. at 15:382) (“So our
position is if they qualify for the 785.22 exemption, if the Court is convinced that they didnggahedule it, then
they owe for 13 hours and it doesn’t matter with individuals if they did or didn’t gep ).
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Caregiver Agreement upon hiring, which provides that, apart from the 8 hours of intarmitte
work, the “remainder of your daily schedule will be allocated into the following hours: 8 hour
for meals (on site), 8 hours sleep time (on site) and 5 hours for free time (Sroste)#234-9
at 1; see alsddocs. #312-2 at J[(10);#325-1at 4(T 10Resp). Paintiffs argue that Humana
sets forth the terms of work applicable to Caregivers in two written docuraemssociate
Handbook, and a Caregiver Employment Agreement.” Doc. #3222 8). While defendants
“admit that these documents set forth certain terms of work genamlicable to Caregivers,”
they “dispute the assertion those are the only sources of Plaitgiffssof work,” arguing that
defendants also “conveyed terms of work during trainings, in verbal conversations, and in other
written documents.” Doc. #3254k 3( 8 Resp.)Exactly what documents and interacti@ven
comprise the partiégagreement, whethé@rwas express or implieds adisputed question dact.
Even assuming the parties et agreemerib exclude some meal asteep periodsa
furtherfactualconsideration isvhether the meandsleep periods were “bona fide” and whether
the sleep periods were “regularly scheduled” as required under section Be3alazarv.
Life Ambulance Serv., In001 WL 685755, at *3-5 (W.D. Tex. 2001) (concluding that the
guestion of whether the sleep period at issue is “regularly scheduled” and “bona fide” should be
submitted to a jury);f. Shannon v. Pleasant Valley Cmty. Living Arrangements, 32c-.
Supp. 2d 426, 432-33 (W.D. Pa. 2000) (employees agreed at least by implication to esployer’
sleep time policywhich did not pay them for sleep time unless they could not obtain five hours
of sleep, but there was a genuine issue of materiaivtaether employer actually abided by this
policy); Trocheck v. Pellin Emer. Medical Service,.[r&l F.Supp.2d 685, 694 (N.D. Ohio
1999) (where court found existence of agreement, it was still required to detevimether

agreement complied wittonditions prescribed under section 78%.22



There are unresolved factual issues as to whether the sleep and mealheee@ds
bona fide and regularly schedujedsection 785.22equires Plaintiffs arguedefendantsdid
not provide regularly scheduled sleep and meal times,” Doc. #312{3 15),and “[a]lthough
Humana paid for 10 or 8 hours, Humana expected caregivers to be on-call throughout their 24-
hour shift and thus expected them to perform 24 hours of work pet §oft, #322-1at 34 (1 8
Resp.). At oral argument, plaintiffs took the position that to be “regularly scheduled” under
section 785.22 “means that there is some consistency in this so that the worker can plan to us
his free time, so that the worker can maintain something of a consistent cindadtam, so that
the client knows when they can demand full attention from the caregiver and whea they’
supposed to leave them alone. Everybody needs to know this in advance. That's why the
regularly scheduled.” Doc. #3§Tr. at 10:13-20)see alsad. (Tr. at 12:16-13:20¥.

But defendants point to the Caregiver Agreement, signed by all HHWs, which states
“[Y]ou are paid for 8 hours of intermittent work per day at the Live-in pay rate...As yalsare
provided with room and board, the remainder of your daily schedule will be allocated into the
following hours: 3 hours for meals (on site), 8 hours of sleep time (on site) and 5 hours of free
time (on site). [...] it is your responsibility to inform the Company if you are providing more
than 8 hours of intermittent work per day durinigva-in assignment.” Doc. #314 3(1Y 1%
12). A reasonable jury could well conclude that this language did serve to render the breaks
“regularly scheduled.”

The partieslsodispute the import of certain of the deposition testimony on the question

of whether the sleep and meal periods would quakfyregularly scheduledinder section

3n response to my questioning as to whether the Caregiver Agreement would Hatestesecific time period

for sleep and meal periods on each day to be “regularly scheduled,” counsel fdifpkated that it would have to
do so: “It can be #gamiddle of the day, it can be the middle of the night. Whatever it is, it has to befe dppeck

of at least eight hours for sleep.” Doc. #381 (Tr. at 1:218see also id(Tr. at 11:1224).
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785.22. For example efendantgpoint out that Kinkead estimated that she was able to get 8
hours of sleep during 7#fercentof herlive-in shifts, Doc. #32%at 67 (1 15 Resp.), but plaintiffs
submitthat when later askeabout receiving at least five hours of uninterrupted sleep, Kinkead
could not recall the percentage, Doc. #322-2021 (1 41 Resp)/Vhile defendants interpret
one optin plaintiff Morant’s testimonyas admitting that she received three hours per day for
meals,Doc. #325at 67 (1 15 Resp.plaintiffs point out that Morantestified she was assigned
to be on-call for her entire shift, Doc. #322-1 at 21 ({ 42 Resp). Deferidehts arge that
someof the opt-ins, including Morant, admitted receiving at least three hours per day fer meal
andtestified they were not on callring the wholeshift because they received break tifdec.
#325-1at 3(1 18 Resp.). In turn, plaintiffs identify testimony from other wpplaintiffs that
they frequently ate with their clients, “carrying on conversation, and interactinghitclient
during their meals which is work time, not a meal break....” Doc. #342621 19). The parties’
contrasting posions over plaintiffs’ testimony also represent disputes of material fact.

Because there are unresolved factual issues regarding whether the sleep andadsal peri
at issue here are bona fide and regularly scheduled, they prevent a conclusion thaeshaighar
or did not have an agreement that ratified the arrangement such that the section 785.22
exemption would apply. Indeed, based on the disputed factual record, a reasonable jury could
conclude that there was agreement between the parties to exchualea fide regularly
scheduledneal and sleep timé jury might also conclude that the pay structure implemented
here was notekigned to provide bona fide regularly scheduled sleep period and meal periods.
Disputed factual issues thus preclude me from granting summary judgment to plamtifésr
claim that members of the FLSA collectiaee entitledo be credited with 24 hesper live-in

shift. | will thereforedeny plaintiffs’ motionas to claims for overtime for all members of the
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FLSA collective who worked in excess of 40 hours in a week between January 1, 2015, and
October 15, 2015, insofar as those claims rest on being credited with 24 hours per live-in shift

But | will grant summary judgment to plaintiffs on the FLSA overtime claims to the
extent they rest on members of the FLSA collective being credited with 13 hourgeger li
shift, which the parties do not dispute is the minimum number of lewenrsif defendants prove
that there was an agreementompliance with section8b.22to exclude meal and sleep tirhe

FLSA regular rate

Plaintiffs alsomove for summary judgment on thpplicable‘regular rate™for the FLSA
overtime claimsDoc. #312-1 at 20-23n order to calculate any overtime wages owedust
first determine the “regular rate” received by plainti8ee29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1). Although the
FLSA does not expressly define the “regular rate” of paYL. interprets the rate as a “rate per
hour,” 29 C.F.R. § 778.109, antheé Supreme Court has determined that‘this hourly
rateactually paidthe employee for the normal, non-overtime workweek for which he is
employed.” Grochowskiv. Phoenix Const.318 F.3d 80, 87 (2d Cir. 2003) (quotiallingv.
Youngerman-Reynolds Hardwood C325 U.S. 419, 424 (194%mphasis in origina))

Section 778.109 of thBOL regulations “computes the regular rate by dividing a
worker’'s Weekly Pay by the total number of hoactually workedduring the workweek for
which compensation was paid®dwellv. CareylInt’l, Inc., 514 F. Supp. 2d 1302, 1318 (S.D.
Fla. 2007Yemphasis addedlf the employee receives &ourly rate, then the “regular rate” is

simply the hourly rateéSee29 C.F.R. § 778.118). On the other hand; the employee receives a

4 Defendants’ argument that plaintiffs waived this clamot convincingSeeDoc. #325 at 189. As an initial
matter, the caselaw cited by defendants does not categorically foreclose me fsaeraanan alternative theory of
relief solely due to its position in a footnote. And plaintiffs rightly poirt“filhe bulk of Plaintiffs’ summary
judgment brief discussed the question of whether Humana was entitled to cl&mMa&a&2 exclusion for 8 hours
of sleep time and 3 hours of meal times from each@4 shift and specifically noted, in the body of thief, that

if Humana could claim the exclusion, it would be liable for a minimum of ‘only 1Be@®4 hours per shift.”” Doc.
#332 at 14.
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dayrate, then the “regular rate” is the hourly rate as calculated by dividing theutotaéseived
at such day rates in a workwelek the total number of hours actually workbdt week See?29
C.F.R. §778.112.
Here, the parties do not dispute that the “regular ratisieisiourly rate or an hourly rate
based on weekly earnings. Nor do they dispute that HHWs workin¢gwesm- shifts were paid
at an hourly rate. But the parties dispiiite rate basis fdive-in HHWs. And whether HHWs are
compensated at an hourly rate under section 778.110 or at a day rate under section 778.112
directly affects the calculation of the regular rate, which in turn deterrtiresvertime rate.
Plaintiffs argue that HHWs working livier shifts werepaid at an hourly ratehat the
remuneration paiger liveiin shiftwas not intended to compensate for all hours worked, as
would be required to constitute a day rate. According to plaingidfish weels regular ratdor
live-in workersis theweekly perhve-in shift compensation divided by 8 hours worked per live-
in shiftin that week Doc. #312-1 at 237 problem with this argument is that it is inconsistent
with plaintiffs’ position (as described in the preceding section of this ruling) about how to
calculate the number of hours to be attributed to a live-in shift for purposes onidétgr
whether live-in HHWSs should receive overtime. For purposdéiseobvertime calculain,
plaintiffs arguethat each liven shift must be counted as at least 13 working hours. Yet now for
purposes of calculating the regular rate to be paid to workers witmlskafts, plaintiffsargue
that live-in workers should be assumed to have attworkedjust8 hours per live-in shift.
Plaintiffs do not explain or justify this contradictiddee Powell514 F. Supp. 2d at 1318

(rejecting similar inconsistent position).
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Apart from this contradiction in plaintiffgosition, itseemgo me that there is a genuine
issue of fact about the calculation of the regular rate forifiweerkers, because there is a
genuine issue of fact about whether limewvorkers were paid an hourly rate or paid a day rate.
Plaintiffs acknowledge that the post-2012 Caregiver Agreenmnisort to pay a “day rate,”
statingthat“[a]s a Livein Caregiver you will be paid a standard rate of pay per day. The
standard rate is based on 8 hours of intermittent work.” Doc. #234-9 at 1 (Y 3)eBdregiver
Agreement furthespecifies an hourly breakdown for the HHW'’s pay pravides that “it is
your responsibility to inform the Company if you are providing more than 8 hours of intermittent
work per day during a live-in assignmenbid. Corporate deposition testimony in turn provides
that if a livein HHW reported working more than 8 hours, then defendants might pay an hourly
rate above the day rateocs. #325-ft 4(1 11 Resp.); #325-3 at 16-17 (Ex. R)aintiffs also
point to pay stubs, which reflected compensation in hours worked, not days. Doc. dt34.2-2
(T 14).

In light of thisdisputed record, conclude thathere is a genuine fact issue abatiether
live-in HHWswere paid a day rate or an hourly r&&ee Serranw. Republic Servs., In227 F.
Supp. 3d 768, 772-73 (S.D. Tex. 2017) (concluding the same in light of evidence that worker
could receive an additional hourly rate beyond alleged “day)ra&etordingly, | will deny
summary judgment as to the calculatiorthaf regular rate.

CMWA overtime claims

Plaintiffs nextmove for summary judgment on thevertime claims under the
Connecticut Minimum Wage Act CMWA"), arguingthat the Connecticut Effective Date Class
became eligible for state laswertime on January 1, 2015, adHiWs are thusentitled to

compensation for unpaid state overtime wages under Conn. Gen. Stat. § 31-68. Ddcat#312-
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24. In accordance with my prior ruling about the effective date detteralregulation, there is
no genuine fact issubat members of the Connecticut Effective Date Class gained overtime
eligibility as of Janary 1, 2015, and that those HHWs who qualifiegteneverthelessot paid
overtime during the Effective Date periddgreewith plaintiffs that all Connecticut Effective
Date ClassHHWs who qualify for CMWA overtime are entitled to paymémt overtime and |
will grant summary judgment to plaintiffs on this issue

Working hours per livein shift under CMWA

As with their FLSA claims, plaintiffs contend thaetmembers of the Connecticut
Effective Date Class and the Connecticut Unpaid Hours Clagnttied to be credited with 24
hours per live-in shift for the purpose of calculating CMWA overtpag Doc. #312-1 at 24-25,
27. Plaintiffs also argue that the Connecticut Unpaid Hours Class is entitled talibedonath,
and compensated for, 24 hours of work for each live-in shift that occurred betweery Januar
2015, and January 25, 2016 (along with any CMWA overtime that results from crediting
Connecticut Unpaid Hours Class members with 24 hours per live-in sthiftt 27.

The CMWA presciies wage and overtime guarantees similar to the FE8ATapia v.
Mateg 96 F. Supp. 3d 1, 5 (D. Conn. 2015). Like the FLSA, the CMWA requires employers to
compensate noaxempt employeest one and onbalf time the regular rater any work over
40 hours a weelSeeConn. Gen. Stat. § 31-76see alsdVilliamsv. Gen.Nutrition Centers,
Inc., 326 Conn. 651, 658 (2017).

Connecticut lavalsoparallelsthe FLSA with respect torediting the number of hours
worked durindive-in shiftsif the parties have agreed to dq pmviding as follows:

(A) “Hours worked” include all time during which an employee is
required by the employer to be on the empl/eremises or to be

on duty, or to be at the prescribed work place, and all time during
which an employee is employed or permitted to work, whether or

14



not required to do so, provided time allowed for meals shall be
excluded unless the employee is required or permitted to work. [...]

(D) Notwithstanding the provisions of this subdivision, when an
individual employed by a thirgarty provider to provide
“companionship services”, as defined in the regulations of the
federal Fair Labor Standards Act, is required to be present at a
worksite for a period of not less than twetfibur consecutive hours,
such individual and his or her employer may agree in writing to
exclude a regularly scheduled sleeping period of not more than eight
hours from hours worked, provided (i) adequatesibe sleemg
facilities are furnished to such individual, and (ii) such individual
receives at least five hours of sleep time. If the scheduled sleeping
period is more than eight hours, only eight hours will be excluded.
If the scheduled sleeping period is interrupted by an assignment to
work, the interruption shall be counted as hours worked. If such
individual does not receive at least five hours of sleep time during
the scheduled sleeping period, the entire sleeping period shall be
considered hours worked.

Conn. Gen. Stat. 8 31-76b(2). This section provides that employers and empiayaggee to
exclude regularly scheduled sleep tinust likethey may do unddhe FLSA.If there is an
agreemenin writing for a regularly scheduled sleep period and if the employee is altoned
for mealsthenlive-in HHWs may be credited withs few asl3 hours per livea shift rather
than 24 hours.

Plaintiffs rely onsection 31-76b to argue ththe Connectiut Effective Date Class and
the Connecticut Unpaid Hours Class should be credited with 24 hours per 24-hdor st
purpose of determining overtime owed to HHWs under stateSaeDoc. #312-1 at 24-25, 27-
28. As with their FLSA overtime claims, plaintiffs take the position that, becdefsmdants
cannot show that there was an “agree[ment] in writing to exclude a regularly schéekebéaigs
period of not more than eight hours from hours worked,” Conn. Gen. Stat. § 31-76b(2)(D),
HHWSs in Connecticut must receive credit for working 24 hours peririvaft.

| do not agree. As | explained abowvih respect tglaintiffs FLSA overtimeclaims

there are disputed issues of fact regarding whether the sleep periods herguwarky re
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scheduledSo just like with plaintiffsmotion for summary judgment on this issue relating to
their FLSA overtime claimgjnresolved questions @dct preclude m&om concluding as a
matter of lawthat there was or was nah agreementand whether there was a written
agreement or notbetween the parties to exclude regularly scheduled sleep pgoodbours
worked per live-in shift.

Accordingly, and for principa) the same reasortisat | deniedsummary judgment on
plaintiffs’ FLSA overtime claim| conclude thatlisputed factual issues preclude summary
judgment orplaintiffs’ claim thatthe Connecticut Effective Date Class and the Connecticut
Unpaid Hours Class are both entitled to be credited with 24 hours per live-in shift forpbsgur
of calculating CMWAovertime

In the alternativeplaintiffs movefor summary judgment on their claim that the
Connecticut Effective Date Claaad the Connecticut Unpaid Hours Classmbers are entitled
to becredited withand paid for 13 hours per live-in shift, which is thimimumnumber of
hours to which ConnectictitHWSs are entitled under state laBeeDoc. #312-1 at 25 n. 1As
to the Connecticut Effective Date Class claims, | agree with plaiatifis just as | did with
respect to the FLSA overtime claimsyill grant summary judgment to plaintiffs on the
Connecticut Effective Date Class claimsofar as they rest omediing HHWs with 13 hours
per live-in shift for the purpose of determining eligibility for and calculating CMoVArtime.

But the analysigliffers as to the Connecticut Unpaid Hours Class cldons
uncompensated straight time hours. As | explained in my prior ruling on class cestificat
plaintiffs sought to certify the Connecticut Unpaid Hours Class on the theorpébatse
Connectictilaw entitled Connecticut workers to be paid for 13 hours peiiigift, class

members were entitled to payment for the statutory minimum number of hours rath@r tha
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hours per shift, even if sonmi#HWSs actually worked more than 13 hours during a 24-hour live-in
shift. SeeKinkead 330 F.R.Dat 344, 352-53. And as | further explained, to succeed on its
claimsthe Connecticut Unpaid Hours class would need to show (1) that Connecticut law
requireddefendantso credit and pay HHWs like plaintiffs for 13 hours of work per live-in shift,
and (2) that defendants only credited and paid plaintiffs for 8 hours pen lsreft of straight
time compensatiarid.at 348 (citingDocs. #181 at 17 (11 689); #2041 at 89, 18; #206-5
at 56).

Connecticut law required defendants to credit and pay HHW& ri@nimum ofl3 hours
of work per live-in shift. But based on the current record, | cannot conclude that defendants onl
credited and paitiHWs in the Connecticut Unpaid Hours Class for 8 hofistraight timeper
live-in shift. This is because, as noted abawth respect to the FLSA claimthe partiediercely
disputethe characterization dfow live-in HHWs were pa: plaintiffs contend that Connecticut
live-in HHWs were paidat an hourly rate for 8 hours of work per liveshift, anddefendants
maintain that HHWs were paid a day rdeeachlive-in shiftthat compensated them for all
hours worked, even if they worked more than 8 hdsesDocs. #312-at 34, 7 (11 10, 14, 12,
29); #325-1 4-6, 14 (111 10, 14, 12, 29 Respsijil il is clearthatcompensation for livé shifts
was on an hourly or dailyasis there are unresolvddctual issues as to whethgonnecticut
HHWSs were paid only for 8 hours per live-in shift for the purpose of determampgnpaid
straight timel will thereforedeny summary judgmeta plaintiffs on the question of whether
members of the Connecticut Unpaid Hours Class clama®ntitled to be creditedth and paid

for the statutory minimum of 13 hours per liveshift.
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Unpaid hours claimsunder CMWA

Plaintiffs seek summary judgment on the Connecticut Unpaid Hours Class fdasny
uncompensated houfwhether straight time or overtimtjat result after being credited with 24
hours per live-in shift, Doc. #312-1 at 27-28, as well as any claims by the Connecticuv&ffect
Date Class founcompensated straight time hoafter crediting HHWswith 24 hours per live-in
shift, id. at 2627. Plaintiffs further contend that any uncompensated straight timedreurs
recoverable at the regular rate, which is calculated under the CMWA theasani& under the
FLSA, rather tharatthe minimum wageate Id. at8-9, 27-28.

Plaintiffs’ claim for uncompensated straight time hours at the regular rate is known as a
“gap-time” claim. A “gap-time” claim is a type of claimifi which an employee has not worked
40 hours in a given week but seeks recovery of unpaid time worked, or in which an employee
has worked over 40 hours in a given week but seeks recovery for unpaid work under 40 hours.”
Nakahata v. New York-Presbyterian Healthcare Sys., @8 F.3d 192, 201 (2d Cir. 2013)
(quotingLundy v. Catholic Health Sys. of Long Island Ji7d.1 F.3d 106, 115 (2d Cir. 2013)).
“Unlike an overtime claim, a gapme claim requires no predicate showing of minimum hours
worked; rather, an allegation of hours worked without compensation may give rise ttimegap-
claim” Id. at 202. Ordinarily, a platiif with a gaptime claim will seek to be paid on the basis
of the plaintiffs regular hourly rate-+ather than the minimum wage ratéor thestraight time
hours he or she has not been pSiek, e.g McGlonev. ContractCallersinc., 114 F. Supp. 3d
172, 173 (S.D.N.Y. 2015) (asserting a “gap-time” claim under which plaintiffs’ “reolanly
wage rate” should be applied to a calculation of damages for unpaid regular hours worked unde

New York law).
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The FLSAdoes not provide a cause of action foraidmap time, because the FLSA
requires no more than payment of a minimum wage and payment of overtime suatethat
“the FLSA is unavailing where wages do not fall below the statutory minimum and hours do not
rise above the overtime threshdllakahata 723 F.3dat 202 Although it is unclear whether
Connecticut labor law allows a gdéipe claim | need not resolve that issue because the
complaint does not allege a Connectigaptime claim. Instead, the complaistsecond cause of
action under Connecticut law seeks relief only for failure to pay overtime wages#Zx6:l at
19; seeGurrieri v. Cty. of Nassgw2018 WL 6590564, at *3 (E.D.N.Y. 2018) (declining to
consider gagime claim where only overtime claim alleged in complaiAcordingly, 1 will
deny plaintiffs’ motion insofar as they seek summary judgment for the ConnecticutsGlasse
gaptime claim under the CMWA.

As to any claim of the Connecticut Unpaid Hours Class foompensated CMWA
overtimeon the basis of being credited with 24 hours per live-in shiftearlieranalysisof the
Connecticut Effective Date Class claims for CMWA overtimat were predicated on crediting
HHWSs with 24 hours per livex shift applies Insofar as plaintiffs seek summary judgment on
Connecticut Unpaid Hours Class claims for CMWA overtime on the basis of ogeHitiWs
with 24 hours per liven shift, | will deny their motionfor the same reasons.

CMWA regular rate

Forboth the Connecticut Effective Date Class and the Connecticut Unpaid Howss Clas
plaintiffs seek summary judgment on the applicable regular rate. Doc. #312-1 at 25-26.
The regular rate under the CMWA is calculated in the same manner as the regular rate is
calculaed under the FLSASee Williams 326 Connat 659. But st as with plaintiffsmotion

for summary judgment as to the regular rate for the FLSA collective, | concludeasym
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judgment on thealculaton ofthe CMWA regular rate is precluded by disputed factual issues as
to whether members of the Connecticut classes who workethlstgfts were paid on an hourly

or daily basis. Accordingly | will deny plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment as to the
calculation of theCMWA regular rate

NYLL overtimeclaims

Plaintiffs move for summary judgment dhe New York Effective Date Clastaims,
arguing that members of this class became eligible for overtime MNegely ork Labor Law
(“NYLL") on January 1, 2015, and that all members aredthiitted to unpaid state overtime
wages as a matter of law forurs worked in excess of 40 hours per watkr that dateDoc.
#312-1 at 28.

As with the Connecticut Effective Date Class, itlsarthat members of the New York
Effective Date Class became eligible ew York overtime as of January 1, 2015, dhat
those who did qualify for such payment were not paid overtime during the Effective Date
period? | therefore agree that all New York Effective Date Class members who qualfiater
law overtime are entitled to such payment, and | will grant summary judgment to fdaintif
this issue

Working hours per livein shift under NYLL

Plaintiffs nextcontend that the New York Effective Date Classl the New York Unpaid
Hours Classreentitled to be credited with 24 hours per live-in shift for the purpose of
determining overtime eligibility and unpaid overtime wageder New Yorkaw, citing a recent
decision from the New York Court of Appeafsydryeyeva v. New York Health Care,.|r83

N.Y. 3d 152 (2019)SeeDoc. #3121 at9-10, 28-31, 33. Plaintiffs also argue that the New York

5> As noted earlier, this is with the exception of those HHWSs in New York who worked onljveein shifts.
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Unpaid Hours Class is entitled to be credited with, and compensated for, 24 hours ofrwork fo
each livein shift during the period November 11, 2009, to January 25, 2016, in determining
unpaid straight timéalong withany state law overtime resulting from crediting New York
Unpaid Hours Class members with 24 hours per live-in shift). Doc. #3120, 33°
Determiningthe number of hours HHWSs should be credited with during eaclinliskHt
under the NYLL is similar téhe method employed under the FLSA, as the New York Court of
Appealsreaffirmed inAndryeyevaseel24 N.Y.3d 152, 165-6TNew York law mirrors federal
law, providingthat HHWsassigned to a twenfipur-hour shift “must be paid not less than for
thirteen hours per twenty-four hour period so long as they are afforded at least eighbthours f
sleep and actually receive five hours of uninterrupted sl@&mh-Wittingham792 F. App’xat
74-75 (quotingAndryeyeva33 N.Y.3dat 153);seealsoN.Y. Lab.LawArt. 19 § 663.
Indeed New Yorkregulations expressly incorporate the federal exemption under 29

C.F.R. § 785.22 for the determination of how many hours aniv#-\W is entitled to be paid
the minimum wage for a 24-hour shift:

The minimum wage shall be paid for the time an employee is

permittedto work, or is required to be available for work at a place

prescribed by the employer]....] However, a residential employee—

one who lives on the premises of the empleysinall not be deemed

to be permitted to work or required to be available for work: (1)

during his or her normal sleeping hours solely because he is required

to be on call during such hours; or (2) at any other time when he or

she is free to leave the place of employment. Notwithstanding the

above, this subdivision shall not be construedeiuire that the

minimum wage be paid for meal periods and sleep times that are
excluded from hours worked under the [FLSA], in accordance with

6 Specifically, plaintiffs argue that because the New York Unpaid Hours Classavapensated for only0thours

per live-in shift from November 11, 2009 to on or about January 1, 2012, members of thiwetasunder
compensated4lhours per livein shift. Doc #3121 at 33. Because the New York Unpaid Hours Class was
compensated for only 8 hours per liveshift from January 1, 2012, to January 25, 2016, plaintiffs further argue that
members of this class were und@mpensated 16 hours per liveshift. Ibid.
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sections 785.19 and 785.22 of 29 C.F.R. for a home care aide who
works a shift of 24 hours or more.

12 N.Y.C.R.R. 8 142-2.1(b).nHENew York StateDepartment of Labor 1Y SDOL") has
interpreted the phrase “required to be available for work at a place prescrilheddmygloyer”
as meaning that employers may “exclude up to 11 hours for sleep and meal breaks from
conmpensable hours,” if those breaks “are regularly scheduled substantial periodgrohass
free personal time Andryeyeva33 N.Y.3dat 176-83 (upholding NYBOL's interpretation of
12 N.Y.C.R.R. § 142-2.1(p)

In light of the foregoingit is clear that a genuine issue of fact remains about the
exclusion of hours und@\YLL just as a genuine issue of fact remains for the exclusion of hours
under the FLSA (as | have discussed abdwejll thereforedeny plaintiffs’ motion to the extent
that the New York Effective Date Class and the New York Unpaid Hours Class taim
overtimerest upon the premise that members should be credited with 24 hours jreshife-

In the alternative lpintiffs seek summary judgmefor the New YorkEffective Date
Classand the New York Unpaid Hours Cladaimson the groundhat HHWs ae entitled to be
credited with and paid for 13 hours per live-in shift, which is the minimum number of hours
required under state lawoc. #312-1 at 31 n. 18.

As to theNew York Effective Date Class clajjust asl did with the FLSA overtime
claims and the Connecticut Effective Date Class overtime clamwi grant summary judgment
to plaintiffsto the extent that claggsembers shadd be credited with the statutory minimum of 13
hours per live-in shift for the purpose of determining eligibility for and calculatingINYL
overtime

While the analysis is necessarily differeattathe New York Unpaid Hours Class claim

for uncompensatestraight timeon the ground that HHWs are entitled to be credited with and
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paid for 13 hours per live-in shift, my analysis of plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment on
the Connecticut Unpaid Hours Class claims for uncompensated straight time hours. &gplie
noted, the parties hotly dispute if and for how many hours Humana paid HHWSs in New York
who worked livein shifts, or if HHWs were paid a day rate for each-livshift that was
intended to compensate HHWs for all hours worked, regardless attirinumber. Docs.
#3122 (11 1214, 25, 27, 29); #32%-(11 1214, 25, 27, 29 Resps.). Accordingly, until it is clear
if compensation for live-in shifts was on an hourly ailylbasis, there are unresolved factual
issues as to whether New York HHWs were paid only for 8pithorehours per liven shift
for the purpose of determining any unpaid straight time. I will therefore deny summary judgme
to plaintiffsto the extenthat they clainthat members of the New York Unpaid Hours Class
claims are entitled to be credited with and paid for the statutory minimum of 13gesunge-in
shift.

Unpaid hoursunder NYLL

Plaintiffs seek summary judgment tive New YorkUnpaid Hours Class clainfisr
uncompensated straight time hours after crediting HHWs with 24 hours per livetjrDsiaif
#312-1 at 33-35as well as any claim®r uncompensated straight time hours bylesv York
Effective Date Clasgesulting frombeing credited with 24 hours per live-shift, id. at 32.
Plaintiffs seek to recover for hours worked during live-in shifts by HHWs in New that went
uncompensated by defendants through January 25, 20th& regular rateéd. at 910, 32, 34.

As toplaintiffs’ claim forNYLL overtimefor the New York Unpaid Hours Claisat
rests on crediting HHWSs with 24 hours per lineshift, my earlier analysis of the New York

Effective Date Class claims for overtime on that same bagikes. So insofaas plaintiffs seek
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summary judgment on New York Unpaid Hours Class claims for NYLL overtime hotih& on
basis of crediting HHWSs with 24 hours per liveshift, | will deny it for the same reasons.

Plaintiffs otherwise assert a gime claim undeNew York law, again seeking to be
paid at the regular rate for straighme hours that they worked but for which they were not
compensated. As an initial matter, to the extent that plaintiffefing relieson section 191 and
section198 of Article 6 ofthe NYLL, Doc. #312-1 at 33, | decline to consider these provisions,
because the operaticemplaint does not allege a violation of Articlé@t instead a violation of
Article 19 of the NYLL.SeeDoc. #256-1 at 19 (11 73-78hird cause of actiofor “NEW
YORK LABOR LAW, ARTICLE 19: UNPAID WAGES AND OVERTIME WAGESand
alleging violation of “NYLL, Article 19, § 650et seq.and 12 NYCRR § 142-2.2").

Article 19is New YorKs Minimum Wage Act and establishesimum wage standards.
SeeN.Y. Lab.Law 88 650et seq Section 663(1) of Article 19 provides, “If any employee is
paid by his or her employer less than the wage to which he or she is emtdkrdhe provisions
of this article he or she shall recover in a civil action the amount of any such underpaynients....
N.Y. Lab. Law § 663(1) (emphasis adde®ecausef the limitations of this language and
becauserticle 19 pertains to payment of a minimum wage, rather than a higher regular rate
wage, | agree with decisions of other district courts concluding that section 663(hptloes
support a claim to gap-time recovery of wages for unpaid hours at a regal&ee Williams v.
Epic Sec. Corp 358 F. Supp. 3d 284, 301-02 (S.D.N.Y. 20MyGlone 114 F.Supp.3dt173.

Nor does plaintiffsgaptime claim find support in 12 N.Y.C.R.R. § 142-2.2, because that
provision concerns solelyayment at minimum wagather than payment for straigiimae at a

regular ratePlaintiffs have not established that their giape claim is supported by the
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provisions of New York labor law that they rely on in their complaint, and therkdatedeny
plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgmerats to their gagime claim under New York law
Regular rate undemlNYLL
For both the New York Effective Date Class and the New York Unpaid Hours Class,
plaintiffs argue that the regular rateader NYLLis calculated in the same manner as the regular
rate is calculated under the FLSA. Doc. #312t31, 33-35For the same reasons that | denied
summary judgment on the calculation of the FL&8A the CMWA regular raté will deny
plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment as to tN&'LL regular rate because a genuine fact
issue remainas towhether HHWs were paid an hourly rate or a dayfratéve-in shifts.
Defendant$ motion for summary judgmen(Doc. #314)

I will turn now to defendants’ motion fqgrartialsummary judgmenDoc. #314.

Good faith defens¢o liability

Defendants seek summary judgment on the ground that they “relied in good faith on the
theneffective 1975 regulations, as well as D@k&dministrative practices aedforcement
policies stating that the Home Care Regulation would not be enforced until November 12, 2015.
Doc. #314-1 at 2(see also idat 17-23A federal law known as the Porta-Portal Act
provides that an employer shall not be subject to retr@aELLSA liability if theemployer
provesthat itsacts or omissions wefe good faith in conformity with and in reliance on any
written administrative regulation, order, ruling, approval, or interpretation . . . or any
administrative practice or enforcement policy [of the Department of LabtirJrespect to the

class of employers to which [they] belong.” 29 U.S.C. § 259(a).

" Because theperativecomplaint does not cite Article 6 of the NYLL, | have no occasion to consider tlétyali
any gaptime claim under provisions of Article 6eeContrera v. Langer314 F. Supp. 3d 562, 56® (S.D.N.Y.
2018) (discussing divided authority on this issue).
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The Second Circuit has explained ttieg Portalto-Portal Act defensérequires the

employer to establish three interrelated elements: (1) that its action was takemaeren a
ruling of the [federal] Administrator, (2) that it was in conformity with that rulargd (3) that it
was in good faith.Equal Employment Opportunity Comm’n v. Home Ins, €2 F.2d 252,
263 (2d Cir. 1982):The defendant faces a high burden to demonstrate that it has done more than
merely possess ahonest intention to ascertamhether it was complying with FLSA; the
defenséwas not intendd to allow an employer to insulate itself from liability for the
consequences of its own improvident interpretation of the stat@eott v. Chipotle Mexican
Grill, Inc., 67 F. Supp. 3d 607, 613 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (quokiggial Employment Opportunity
Conmm’n, 672 F.2d aR66 (internal citations omitted)

| reject defendantseliance on the good faith defense for substantially the reasons well-
stated by Judge Nathan@reen v. Humana At Home, In880 F. Supp. 3d 400 (S.D.N.Y.
2019). To begin with, the good faith defense applies only to reliance on administrative actions,
not judicial rulings.Id. at 412. Although defendants maintain they reliedhen‘theneffective
1975 regulations, as well as D@Ladministrative practices and enforcement policies,” it was the
initial adverse ruling by the district court in the Dista¢tColumbia inWeil that prompted
defendants tallegedlyrely on the DOL pronouncement&eeHome Care Ass of Am. v. Wejl
76 F. Supp. 3d 138 (D.D.C. 2014¢yvd and remanded799 F.3d 1084 (D.C. Cir. 2015).

Moreover, “the defendant must demonstrate i@t administrative policyjvas an
objectivelyreasonable object of reliancé&teen 380 F. Supp. 3dt414 (emphasis in
original); seealsoScotf 67 F.Supp.3dt 612-13.But hereDOL’s non-enforcement policy dhe
caregiver exemptioapplied only to DOL enforcement actionst private enforcement actions.

It was not reasonable for defendants to conclude from the DOL'’s declaration efifeooement
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that they could not be subject to liability by means of a pgieaforcement action, especially
sincethe district cours decision inWeilwas subject to pending apped.

And even assuming that defendants demonstrated objectively reasonable rtkleance,
record falls short of demonstrating that defendants showed gooddaitmatter of lawlo
establish good faith under the PottialPortal Act an employer must show more than its
subjective state of mindcotf 67 F. Supp. 3dt612. The DOLinterpretiveregulations provide
that “good faith” is an objective test: whether the employer “acted as a rbhspnalent man
would have acted under the same or similar circumstaesd faith’ requires that the
employer have honesty of intention and no knowledge of circumstances which ought to put him
upon inquiry.” 29 C.F.R. § 790.15(a) (citing legislative history).

The regulations further elaborate on the “good faith” requirement, explaining that an
employer is entitled to rely upon an administrative “ruling . . . stating positively thatithe Fa
Labor Standards Act does not apply to certain employees,” so long as the employer “had no
notice of any facts or circumstances which would lead a reasonably prudent man tanthake f
inquiry as to whether the emplegs came within the Astprovisions.”ld. at§ 790.15(b). Here,
for reasons already mentioned with respect tofled proceedings and the surrounding

regulatory contest, whether defendants had “knowledge of circumstances which ought to” have

8 The DOL statements discuss only its “tilimited norrenforcement policy” and the fact that “the Department will
not bring enforcement actions against any employer for violations of FLSA obligattsudting from the new
regulations for 30 days after tl®urt of Appealsssues a mandat@pplication of the Fair Labor Standards Act to
Domestic Service; Announcement of-Bay Period of NorEnforcement, 80 Fed. Reg.,639 (Sept. 14, 20153ee
alsoApplication of the Fair Labor Standards Act to Domestic Service: Dates\abBsty Announced 3May

Period of NorEnforcement, 80 Fed. Reg.,686 (Oct. 27, 2015Application of the Fair Labor Standards Act to
Domestic Service; Announcement of Tienited NonEnforcement Policy79Fed. Reg60,974(Oct. 9, 2014)
That the DOL in its discretion decided to delay its own enforcement had no effgivate enforcement. Some of
defendants’ statements undercut any suggestion to the contrary. For example, defefaatitat they “understood
that even though DOL was likely to appeal the District Court decision invalidagriginhl Rulethat DOL would
not attempt to enforce the Home Care Regulation against emplohidesthe appeal was pending.” Do@¥42 at

5 (1 29) (emphasis added).
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caused it tanquire further as to the import and effect of DOL’s statements is a disputetbquest
of fact that would precludes summary judgment on defendants’ goodSadial. at 8§ 790.15(a).
Defendants have not demonstrated they are entitled to summary judgment sedtir

259defense as a matter of law for thegurported goodaith reliance on DOL administrative
regulations, practices, or enforcement policiesill thereforedeny defendantshotionfor
summary judgment with respect to their good faith defense under the tBdPtattal Act

Good faith defense to liquidated damages

Defendants seesummary judgement on tinelefensea liquidated damages under 29
U.S.C. § 260, N.Y. Lab.&w § 663 and Conn. GeBtat § 31-72SeeDoc.#314-1 at 23-28.
The FLSA provides that an employer who violates the compensation provisions of the Act is
liable for unpaid wages “and an additional equal amount as liquidated damages.” 29 U.S.C.
§ 216(b). The Portalto-Portal Act however, allows &ourt to deny an award of liquidated
damagesinder the FLSAf the employer shows that, despite the failure to pay appropriate
wages, the employer acted in subjective “good faith” and had objectively “reasonable grounds”
for believing that the acts or omissions giving rise to the failure did not violate the FLS
Herman v. RSR Services Lti#l72 F.3d 132, 142 (2d Cir. 1999) (quoting 29 U.S.C. 8.260g

employer bears the burden of proving good faith and reasonableness, but the bacdtiticust

one, with double damages being the norm and single damages the excépton.”

® Defendantsarguethat plaintiffs have conceded summary judgment dse@ood faittdefense against liquidated
damages under New York and Connecticut stateblwauselaintiffs’ briefing in opposition expressly “does not
address the question of Plaintiffdaim for liquidated damages under state law.” Doc. #334 &t defendants

own argument in support of summary judgment focuses only on the liquidated damdgeke FLSA Indeed,
defendants’ motion for summary judgmemkes no othermention of liquidated damages undieiy. Lab. Law§

663 and Conn. Geistat § 31-72 except for mentioning state law in the section header, as walitiag that the
FLSA good faith standard applies to NYLL atfchtthe liquidated damages provision of the CMWA was changed
to echo the FLSA'’s liquidated damages proviseeDoc. #3141 at 2324, 23 n. 7 Accordingly, | will deny
defendant’s motion insofar as it seeks summary judgment as to liquidated damagéseunderk and

Connecticut state law.
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“To establish ‘good faith,” a defendant must produce ‘plain and substantial eviderice of a
least an honest intention to ascertain what the Act requires aodhfgy with it.” Perskyv.
Cendant Corp.547 F. Supp. 2d 152, 157 (D. Conn. 2008) (looking to the liquidated damages
provision of the FLSA and quotirgeich v. Southern New England Telecomms. Cbgd. F.3d
58, 71 (2d Cir. 1997)). Showing good faith “requires more than ignorance of the prevailing law
or uncertainty about its development. It requires that an employer first takestepgeo
ascertain the dictates of [the law] and then move to comply with thieench 121 F.3d at 71.
“[T]hat [an emplower] did not purposefully violate the provisions of [the statute] is not sufficient
to establish that it acted in good faithhid. In addition, the reasonableness requirement
“imposes an objective standard by which to judge the employer’s conBecsky 547 F. Supp.
2d at 157 ioternal quotations omittgd

Defendantsmotion for summary judgment as to liquidated damages fails for largely the
samereasons have rejectedheir motion for summary judgment on their good faith argumsent a
to liability. Defendantdiave nomettheir “difficult” burden of showing good faith by
identifying “plain and substantial evidence of at least an honest intention to imseéraathe
FLSA requres and to comply with itbased on the undisputed facts in the recéod example,
defendants asseffift was Humana understanding that because the Final Rule was invalidated,
the original regulations remained in effeicé (that Liveln HHAs were §ll exempt from the
FLSA).” Doc. #314-2at 5(1 28). But defendants do not identify or cite any specific factual basis
for this “understanding.SeeHernandez v. Jrpac Inc2016 WL 3248493, at *34 (S.D.N.Y.
2016) (declining to credit conclusory assertions tleiéndantsacted in good faith to comply

with the FLSA and the NYLL,” absent evidence that defendants took some concrete step t

assure compliance with those laws).
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Even assuming defendants demonstrated subjective good faith, defendants have not
shown that they had objectively reasonable grounds for believing their actions compliddewith t
FLSA during the pendency of thgeil litigation. This isbecause DO’s non-enforcement policy
did not apply to private enforcement actipas explaine@bovewith respect talefendants’
good faith defense to liability.

Accordingly I will deny summary judgment to defendants on the issue of liquidated
damages. In so concluding, | will note that the Court retains discretgmanoordeny liquidated
damages at a later dageePersky 547 F. Supp. 2dt 157 (“Even assuming that gremployer]
acted in good faith the decision to award liquidated damages [under the BLsSijwithin the
discretion of the trial cotit (internal quotation marks omitted))

Statute of limitationsfor willful violation of FLSA

Defendantsarguethat a tweyear statute of limitations applies to the FLSA claims
becauseheiralleged noncomplianogith 29 C.F.R. 8§ 522.10&as not willful. SeeDoc. #314-1
at 2527. Defendants thus seek summary judgment on FLSA claims that fall outside theht peri
Ibid.

An employer’s exposure to liability under the FLSA ordinarily is limited to twosyear
See McLaughlin v. Richland Shoe.C86 U.S. 128, 135 (1988). Recovery for a period of three
years is permissible onlf a violation of the FLSA is willfulSee29 U.S.C. § 255(a) (extending
statute of limitations where there is a willful violatioKyebel v. Black & Decker Inc643 F.3d
352, 366 (2d Cir. 2011) (citing 29 U.S.C. § 255(a)).

“An employer willfully violates the FLSA when ieither knew or showed reckless
disregard for the matter of whether its conduct was prohibitethbyAct.” Young v. Cooper

Cameron Corp 586 F.3d 201, 207 (2d Cir. 2009) (quotMgLaughlin 486 U.Sat133. “To
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show that a FLSA violation is willful, an employee must prove that the employer washaore t
negligent.”"Saundery. City of NewYork 594 F. Supp. 2d 346, 358-59 (S.D.N.Y. 20@ut “[a]
plaintiff need not show that an employer acted with intent to discriminate or in dad Patlis
v.NewSch. for SodResearch132 F.3d 115, 119 (2d Cir. 1997).

Because prdoof willfulnessrequiresa factual showing that the employer either “knew or
showedreckless disregardPorter v. New York Univ. School of La892 F.3d 530, 531 (2d Cir.
2004) (quotingMcLaughlin 486 U.S. at 133)t is generally aquestion for the jurySeeKuebe)

643 F.3dat 366 (vacating summary judgment becaliigebel has raised a question of fact as to
whether B & D acted willfully”and “[i]f a jury found such evidence to be credible, it might
reasonably conclude that B & D willfully violated the FLSA").

Here, paintiffs have aised genuine issues of fact about whether defendatgged
noncompliance with the FLSA was willful. Plaintiffs point teter alia, “(1) Humanas$ advance
knowledge of the effective date of 29 C.F.R. § 552.109, (2) its deliberate decision not to consul
an attorney regarding the effect of either the D.C. Cikuéversal ofVeil | or DOL's non-
enforcement policy, (3) its decision to assume based on conversations with unnamed pérsons tha
it had no liability until November 12, 2015....” Doc. #322 af e alsdoc. #322-1 at 13-19
(1122-39 Resps.Pefendantslo not point to evidenddat conclusively showgheir
noncompliance wasot willful or donewith reckless disregardccordingly, | will deny
summary judgment with respect to whether defendants acted willfully and whethieshiould
be subject only to a twgear statute of limitations for plaintiff6&LSA claim.

Statute of limitations folNYLL claims

Defendantarguethatthe NYLL daims (the New York Effective Datglass and the

New York Unpaid Hours fass)are timebarredto the extent thaheydo not relate back to the
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original complainthat was filed in this actigrwhich alleged only FLSA an@MWA claims

Doc. #314-1 at 27-29. The original complaint that was filed in this action in November 2015
alleged claims under the FLSA and Connecticut law solely by Connecticut HHWSs, Doc. #1, and
plaintiffs filed an amended complaint to add their New York law claims in Novegidet,Doc.

#181. When plaintiffs moved to amend their complaint toMdel York plaintiffs withNew

York law claims | granted the motion to amend on the understanding that plaintiffs intended
their New York claims to relate back to the filing of the initial compldddc. #182 (T. at
13:16-14:6), while also noting thdtm going to allow the amendment of the complaint without
prejudice to raising such kinds of arguments that there may be of any kind of limitations on the
New York claims’ id. (Tr. at30:5-8); see alsdoc. #180.

A complaint may “relate back” to an earlier complaint for statute of limitatiorgoges
under certain circumstances as described in Rule 15 of the Federal Rules BfdCiedure. For
examplerelation back is propef an amended pleadings$serts alaim or defense arising from
the same conduct, transaction, or occurrence as set out ... in the original pleading.” Fed. R. Civ.
P. 15(c)(1)(B) “[T]he central inquiry is whether adequate notice of the matters raised in the
amended pleading has been given to the opposing party within the statute of limitations by the
general fact situation alleged in the original pleadihgfiman XS Tr., Series 2006-GP2 by U.S.
Bank Natl Assn v. GreenPoint Mortg. Funding, Inc916 F.3d 116, 128 (2d Cir. 201@)ternal
guotations omitted).

In light of these principles, | conclude that plaintiff$éM York lawclaims relate back to
the original complaint but only in part. On the one hand, plaintifésiv York law claims
relating todefendantsfailure to pay workersvertimeunderNew Yorklaw since January 1,

2015, properly relate back to the essentially identical claims previously alleged bifglaint

32



under the FLSA and Connecticut law. | do not agree with defendants that thieguféidient
notice of plaintiffs claims for overtime under New York law for those HHWs who worked live-
in shiftsafter January 1, 2015, which by definition ietNew York Effective Date Clasdust as
the Connecticut overtime claim was premised on the same conduct and policy thattfemed
basis of plaintiffs FLSA overtime clairr—defendants’ policy of not paying HHWs overtime—so
too are the claims for overtime under New York lanedicated on the same factual basis as the
FLSA overtime claimSo|l will deny defendants’ motion for summary judgmeiith respect to
“relation back” forthe New York Effective Date claims

On the other hand, defendants’ remaining New York law claims do not properly relate
back to the initial complainThe first amended complaint expanded the temporal scope of the
actionby including unpaid straight time hours claimd4{Ws who workedor defendantgrior
to January 1, 2015, thanks to the gear statute of limitations for tié¢YLL claims, which
ultimately resukdin the New York Unpaid Hours Class consisting of HHWs who worked live-
in shiftssinceNovember 11, 2009-six years prior to filing of the initial complairfeeDoc.
#256-1.

It is difficult to characterizelaintiffs’ nonovertime claims that allege violationsdééw
York law andthatarebased on condugtrior to January 1, 201%&sarisng from the same
factual basis athe initial overtime claimslleging violations of federal and Connecticut law
beginningon January 1, 2015. This is nota@sewhere the original complaint contained only
“very general allegatiohghat werdatersimply “delineate[d] with more detdilSlayton v. Am.
Exp. Co, 460 F.3d 215, 229 (2d Cir. 2006). Instehe,New York Unpaid Hourslaim for
unpaid straight time wageprior to January 1, 2018ecessarily depesan facts that weraot

set out in the original complaint and invokes a legal theory not suggested by the original
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complaint, which alleged only overtime claims under the FLSA and CMS¢&Zorrilla v.

Carlson Restaurants Inc255 F. Supp. 3d 465, 477 (S.D.N.Y. 2017) (no relation back because
“[t] his claim relies on facts not set out in the original pleadiDgfendantspayment practices
after Swars employment ended—and invokes a legal theory not suggested by the First
Complaint”).

Nor do he original overtime claimgnder the FLSA and CMWA provide sufficient
notice to defendants difieir potential liability for unpaid straight tim@ages under NYLL, at
least prior to January 1, 2016is difficult to say that claims commencing on January 1, 2015,
are sufficient tagive notice about claimpre-datingJanuary 1, 2015, especially if the legal basis
for the earlier claims also differs. As defendants point out, they “could not possittydreper
notice of claims relating to such time period [November 11, 2009 to December 31, 2014], as that
time periodwas not at issue in the originally filed case.” Doc. #334 at 12.

Accordingly, 1 will grant summary judgment to defendants on the relation back issue on
the basis that, to the extent that the amended complaint (filed in Novembeag8ait3inpaid
hoursclaims based on violations of New York law prior to January 1, 20t®es not relate
back to the initial complaint for statute of limitations purpofasg to the exterthat the New
York law claims dependn conduct after January 1, 2015, | concludettiese allegations
properly relate bacto the original complairandsol will deny summary judgmerto this extent
with respect to the application of the statute of limitations for the New ¥opaid Hours Class
claim. In light of these rulings, the New York Unpaid Hours Class will now consist of HHWs
employed by defendants in New York who worked live-in shifts between November 9, 2011—

six years prior to when the amended complaint was filed—and the present.
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Effective date for New York overtime requirements

Defendants next argue that tGeurt shouldefer to a NY6SDOL internal memorandum
regarding the effective date of 29 C.F.R.8 552.88%¢preseimig New YorKs determination of
when for purposes of New York law teate lawovertime requirementsere modified by the
change in the federal caregiver exemptidoc. #3141 at29-31 Because fls memorandum
determined tha?9 C.F.R.8 522.109’s effective date was October 13, 2015 for NYLL purposes,
defendantseeksummary judgment on the New York Effective DatagSclaims which are
claims for overtime during the period of January 1, 201Gdimker 12, 2015ld. at31.

This argument appears to be a reprise of an earigrmenthat the NYSDOL
memorandum had estoppel effect on plaintiffaims. SeeDoc. #279 at 9-13Fee alsdoc.
#289.1 rejected this argument wherértified theclassesexplaining ft]he only analysis of
New York law in[the NYSDOL memorandumik to note that the NYLL mirrors federal
regulations—Ilaw that the NYSDOL certainly is not charged to enforce. So, neitheneltcu
precludes or binds the action hergihkead 330 F.R.D. at 358 he same reasoning applies
now, and | will deny defendants’ motion for summary judgment insofar as it seeks to dismiss
claims on the basis of the NYSDOL memorandum.

Reasonableness oifie CaregiverAgreementunder 29 C.F.R. § 785.23

Defendantsiextargue that the Caregiver Agreement was reasonable as a matter of law
under 29 C.F.R. § 785.28eeDoc. #314-1 at 3B5.1° That sectiorof the FLSA regulations

providesin part that “any reasonable agreement” between the parties about the number of hours

10 Although defendantseek summary judgment on the issue tR&intiffs’ Caregiver Agreement was reasonable
under 29 C.F.R. § 785.23 and, if not, reasonable under 29 C.F.R. § 785.22,” Doc. #314 at Zytdesegdments

do not address section 785.82eDoc. #3141 at 3135.Insofar as defendants’ motion seeks summary judgment on
the reasonableness of the Caregiver Agreement pursuant to section 785.2Znwitll d
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that a livein employee works and that “takes into consideration all of the pertinent falctewil
accepted.29 C.F.R. § 785.23.

Assuming that section 785.2pplies,and plaintiffs advance several reasons why it does
not, seeDoc. #322 at 25-33, the record shows thatfacts “pertinent” to whether the HHWs
“ordinarily” had enough time for eating and sleeping—key to the question of whether the
Caregiver Agreement wéareasonable” under this sectierare fiercely contestedh light of
these unresolved factual issues, | cannot decide on summary judgnetinérthe Caregiver
Agreement ¢venassuminghat it comprised thparties$ entireagreementtookall the pertinent
facts into accourguchthat itwas reasonable under section 785l88eed, aeasonable jury
could find that the Caregiver Agreement vas$reasonabléecause it did not “[take] into
consideration all of the pertinent facts” as to whether a HHW should be “consideveckasy
all the time he is on the premiskas is required by sectiaf85.23.

Defendants advance other argumerg$o why the Caregivégreement is reasonable
under section 785.2%eeDoc. #314-1 at 31-35. But they are unavailing in light of the disputed
factual recordwhichwould still preclude summary judgmeon the Caregiver Agreemest
reasonableness under section 7839.28ll deny defendantsmotionfor summary judgment on
this ground.

Overtime claims of HHWsvho worked no more than three livie-shifts in any week

Defendants seek summary judgment onabertime claims of aniAHW who worked no
more than threbve-in shifts in any given workweeknd specifically,Mathieus overtime claim
becausehe never worked more than three live-in shifts per week. Doc. #ai36-37.

Like so many other positions adopted by defendants, this arguestsun the

assumptiorthatdefendants must creditHWs with only 13 hours per 24-hour shift under the
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FLSA andNYLL (and presumably, although defendants do not specifically state as much, under
the CMWA). Id. at 36.But while the parties do not dispute that thenimumnumber of hours
that must be credited to HHWSs is 13 hours per iivehift, there remaimgenuine questions of
material fact as to whetheiHWs must be credited witlmore thanl3 hours per livén shift
under the FLSA, CMWA, and NYLLThese factual issues waaksowhy | denieddefendants
summary judgment on the issue that 13 hours isndeémurmumber of hours that HHWs are
entitled to be creditedith per live-in shift. Accordingly, | will deny defendants’ motion for
summary judgment on Mathislovertime claimor the overtime claims adny other HHWs who
worked no more than three live-shiftsin aweek.

More generally, to the extent that defendants argue that crediting and paying HHWs for
13 hours per liven shift “is the maximum number of hours at issue in this litigation” on the
basis that plaintiffs have “conceded” this isssegDoc. #314-1 at 35-36, | do not agréewuill
deny defendants’ motion insofar as it seeks summary judgment on this point for the same rea
that | denied summary judgment to plaintiffs on the issue that HHWs were entitledrexdiied
with 24 hours per liveén shift: that disputed questiorg material fact preclude a conclusion as a
matter of law about whether HHWs are entitled to be credited and paid for 13 or 24 hours.

Adequacy oper-live-in shift compensatiorito HHWs

Defendantsargue that the day rate paid to live-in HHWs fully compensated them for all
hours that they worked, thereby eliminating any neartime claims and limiting any overtime
claims to haltime on the basis thétte regular rates based on day rateDoc. #314-1 at 37-39.

As an initial matter, éfendants contenithiat“neither [New York] named Plaintiff Caillo
nor Plaintiff Mathieu have standing to assert an unpaid hours claim prior to January 1, 2015,

because neither worked in a lirecapacity prior to January 1, 2015’ at 37. But, the Second
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Circuit has made cleathe obvious truth that class actions necessarily involve plaintiffs
litigating injuries that they #imselves would not have standing to litigagad because “class
action plaintiffs are not required to have individual standing to press any of the claimstmglongi
to their unnamed class members, it makes little sense to dismiss the state law clamasneicu
class members for want of standing when there was no requirement that the namiéfd pla
have individual standing to bring those claims in the first pldcgngan v. Johnson & Johnson
Consumer Companies, In897 F.3d 88, 95 (2d Cir. 2018).

As to defendants’ argumettiat the“day rate”paid per live-in shift fully compensated
HHWSs, there are disputed questions of fact as to whethgreiHese-in shift compensation paid
was in fact alay rate that was intended to cover all hours worked, regardless of the actual
number {.e., any hours beyond the 8 hoyra}l explained above with respect to plaintiffs’
motionon this issueSo, as with plaintiff§motion, | will deny defendantshotion for summary
judgment that theerlive-in shift amounfully compensated HHWSs because it was a day rate

Defendants next submit that they aeatitled to judgment as a matter of law on the
‘unpaid’ hours claims of any Live-In HHA who never earned below the minimum wage[.]” Doc
#314-1 at 44see alsad. at 39-44. | will grant defendantsiotionfor summary judgment on this
ground to the extent | hawdreadyconcluded above with respect to plaifgtisummary
judgment motion that plaintiffs mayot maintain a “gagime” claim for straighttime wages
above the minimum wage rate. | will otherwise deny defendardsion to the extent that
defendants may claim that they paid the minimum wage tardivrkers, because genuine fact
issues remain about the number of hours workedlenthte basis of liven wages.

Defendants also arguleat“any overtime owed based on FLSA principles applicable to

FLSA, New York and Connecticut overtime law since January 1, 2015 is owed at thienbalf-
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rate.” Doc. #314-1 at 44ee also idat 43-44. Defendants’ argument on this pagpuinrests on
the prense that HHWSs working liveén shiftswerepaid a day ratewhich should be used as the
basis for calculating the regular and overtime reded | have already concluded that genuine
fact issues remain about whether iimeHHWSs were paid a day rate.

Offsets

Finally, defendants argue that they are entitled to certain offsets that would reduce
plaintiffs’ potential recoveryinder 29 C.F.R. 88 207(e)(6), (®eeDoc. #314-1 at 44. Courts
have divided over whether “an employer may only credit extra patgnagainst overtime
liability accruing in the same workweelkCompare Scott v. City of New Yp882 F.Supp.2d
475, 482 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (29 C.F.R. 8§ 778.202 “resolve[s] the ambiguity” in § 207(h)(2) to
makeclear that premium credits may only be credited against liability in the sarkemod),
with Singer v. City of Wa¢®24 F.3d 813, 828 (5th Cir. 2003) (offsets may be applied
cumulatively).

The Second Circuit has natled on the issue by published decision but hagett[ed]
the defendantargument that their purported ‘overpaymertsbvertime in certain weeks
should offset their liability for other weeks” and edtifferent approaches taken by courts in an
unpublished opiniorHarold Levinson Assocs., Inc. v. Ch&J F. App’x 19, 22 (2d Cir. 2002).
And the Second Circuit’s reasonimgHarold Levinsorhas beempplied bydistrict courts as
standing for the proposition that overpayments matyoe used to offset liability in other pay
periods.See, e.g Caltenco v. G.H. Food Inc2019 WL 4784065, at *12 n. 6 (E.D.N.Y. 2019)
(citing Harold Levinson37 F. App’x at 22)see alsdConzo v. City of N.Y667 F. Supp. 2d 279,
291 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (concluding “an employer may only credit extra payments against overtime

liability accruing in the same workweek’l am skeptical about defendants’ offset argument in
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light of these precedents but it is premature for me to decide at this time whetheladeenay
be entitled to the offsets they request. | will defer ruling at this time on defishd@otion for
summary judgment on the issue of offsets.
CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained abopiaintiffs’ motionfor summary judgment (Doc. #312)
and defendants’ motion for summary judgment (Doc. #314G&ANTED IN PART, DENIED
IN PART, and DEFERRED IN PAR®@s set forth in this ruling.

It is so ordered.

Dated at New Haven th&lst day oMarch2020.

[s/Jeffrey Alker Meyer

Jeffrey Alker Meyer
United States District Judge
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